

To the stars and beyond: the role of the private space industry in securitizing outer space: A discourse analysis on the American private space industry, examining its role in the securitization of outer space within a United States context, between 2010-2021.

Steen. Wouter

#### Citation

Steen, W. (2022). To the stars and beyond: the role of the private space industry in securitizing outer space: A discourse analysis on the American private space industry, examining its role in the securitization of outer space within a United States context, between 2010-2021.

Version: Not Applicable (or Unknown)

License: License to inclusion and publication of a Bachelor or Master thesis in

the Leiden University Student Repository

Downloaded from: https://hdl.handle.net/1887/3281379

**Note:** To cite this publication please use the final published version (if applicable).

# To the stars and beyond: the role of the private space industry in securitizing outer space

A discourse analysis on the American private space industry, examining its role in the securitization of outer space within a United States context, between 2010-2021.

Master's Thesis MA International Relations: Global Conflict in the Modern Era

Supervisor and first reader: Dr. N. Rodriguez Idarraga

Second reader: Prof. dr. I.G.B.M. Duijvesteijn



Wouter Steen - s1847414

10 January 2022

14932 words

Faculty of Humanities, Leiden University



### **Declaration of originality**

By submitting this assignment, I certify that:

✓ this work has been drafted by me without any assistance from others (not applicable to group work).

✓ I have not copied submitted work from other students

✓ I have not used sources that are not allowed by the course instructors, and I have clearly referenced all sources (either from a printed source, internet, or any other source) used in the work in accordance with the course requirements and the indications of the course instructors.

 $\checkmark$  this work has not been previously used for other courses in the programme or for course of another programme or university unless explicitly allowed by the course instructors.

I understand that any false claim in respect to this work will result in disciplinary action in accordance with university regulations and the programme regulations, and that any false claim will be reported to the Board of Examiners. Disciplinary measures can result in exclusion from the course and/or the programme.

I understand that my work may be checked for plagiarism, by the use of plagiarism detection software as well as through other measures taken by the university to prevent and check on fraud and plagiarism.

I understand and endorse the significance of the prevention of fraud, and I acknowledge that in case of (gross) fraud the Board of Examiners could declare the examination invalid, which may have consequences for all students.

Name: Wouter Steen

Date: 10-01-2022

#### **Abstract**

This thesis has investigated the role of the American private space industry in the ongoing securitization of outer space within the United States context. Whereas scholars have thoroughly examined the role of the state in the securitization of outer space, it has thus far predominantly overlooked possible securitizing moves performed by the private space industry, as well as the role of the novel NewSpace industry within that process. Therefore, this investigation aims to examine the private space companies SpaceX, Virgin Galactic, and United Launch Alliance (ULA) building upon securitization theory. Specifically, it will provide a discourse analysis on those companies' webpages, uncovering four discourses possessing either or both securitizing speech acts and performative securitization. This thesis finds that the private space industry took on a facilitating role regarding the securitization of outer space by proliferating and enhancing space launching capabilities and engaging with the U.S. military and national security services. Furthermore, it might have contributed to the securitization of outer space by performing speech acts, but this investigation refrains from drawing that conclusion, as it has not investigated the audience involved and thus cannot estimate whether the speech acts were performed successfully. Nevertheless, these findings combined with the academic literature on PMSCs, suggest that private space companies sometimes can look and act like PMSCs, explaining why private space companies might be incentivized to contribute to outer space securitization.

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	3
Chapter 1 – Introduction	5
Chapter 2 – Literature Review	7
2.1 Securitization theory	7
2.2 Space security	10
2.2.1 History of space security	10
2.2.2 Contemporary Space Security	11
2.2.3 Space security within the United States context	12
2.4 PMSCs	14
2.5 Literature review conclusion	16
Chapter 3 - Methodology	17
3.1 Research objectives and relevance	17
3.2 Justification of research method: Qualitative – Discourse Analysis	19
3.3 Research context, case selection, and justification of timeframe	22
Chapter 4 – Analysis	23
4.1 Actor descriptions	23
4.1.1 SpaceX	23
4.1.2 Virgin Galactic	24
4.1.3 United Launch Alliance (ULA)	25
4.2 Discourse Analysis	27
4.3 Space is a positive transformative enabler and should therefore be democratized	28
4.4 The PSI must contribute to the maintenance of U.S. leadership in space	29
4.5 The human species is endangered, the colonization of Mars is the solution	32
4.6 The PSI is there to assist and support U.S. military performance and national security	34
Chapter 5 – Discussion	36
Chapter 6 – Conclusion	40
Bibliography	42

# Chapter 1 – Introduction

"If we can't agree a legal framework governing their use and the territories they lead to, it follows that we may end up fighting over them just as we have done on Earth for most of human history. Alas, it appears almost written in the stars what we will compete for them" (Marshall, 2021, p. 302). With this referral to access capabilities to space and the territories of outer space itself, Marshall (2021) asserts a rather alarming expectation. Indeed, the grown importance of outer space for modern societies in their everyday activities, accompanied by a significantly lowered barrier for players to enter space, has led to historically high levels of competition over Earth's outer orbit, making analysts claim that the world is now entering a new phase of the Space Age (van Manen, Sweijs, & Bolder, 2021, p. 1).

This lowered barrier of entry into space is in large part due to the invention of reusable rockets by the booming private space industry, which from now on will be abbreviated as PSI. Private companies which are active in, for instance, the launching of satellites, as well as rockets carrying cargo and astronauts, and the establishment of space tourism have, hence, seen their revenues erupt in recent years. Their business will continue to flourish, as the total size of the space economy was calculated at \$424 billion in 2019 and is estimated to grow to \$2.7 trillion in 2050, and the costs of putting objects into space will diminish respectively (van Manen, Sweijs, & Bolder, 2021, pp. 1-37). Meanwhile, more and more states regard outer space as a domain of critical military and national security importance, illustrated in the adoption of new strategies towards space, the development of outer space weaponry, and the establishing of Space Forces as part of a state's armed forces (van Manen, Sweijs, & Bolder, 2021, pp. 1-37). This leaves scholars to conclude that space is increasingly being securitized (Peoples, 2011, pp. 76-94).

Whereas scholars have examined the role of states in this securitization process, they have generally left the role of the PSI in it untouched. Hence, this thesis will attempt to examine the role of the PSI in the securitization of outer space. Specifically, it will build upon securitization theories to uncover securitizing moves through speech acts and performative actions executed by SpaceX, Virgin Galactic, and ULA. In pursuit of this goal, it will produce a discourse analysis based on originally gathered data found on those companies' webpages. The research question central to this investigation is: "To what extent did the private space industry influence the securitization of outer space within the United States in the period 2010-2021?".

To answer this research question, the thesis will adhere to the following structure. The second chapter will present a literature review, containing a reflective overview of the main scholarly debates that need to be encompassed within this thesis for it to provide a solid analysis of the research subject. The third chapter will provide a methodological framework, further elaborating on how this thesis attempts to answer the research question. In turn, the fourth chapter will present the findings of that analysis. Subsequently, these findings will be discussed and put into synthesis with the theories found earlier in the literature review in the fifth chapter, where the thesis' limitations will also be considered. Chapter six will put forward a conclusion, accompanied by recommendations for future research.

# Chapter 2 – Literature Review

To understand how the private industry might influence the securitization of outer space within the United States context, it is necessary to first get a grasp on the theoretical concepts that highly impact that thought process. Therefore, the following section will present a literature review on the scholarly debates on securitization theory and space security. Additionally, it will concisely present the groundbreaking work of Peter Singer (2008) on private military and security companies (PMSCs) and will make a case that some contemporary private space companies could sometimes be categorized as such.

#### 2.1 Securitization theory

Since the 1990s, securitization has taken an immense flight up high within the scholarly world (Stritzel, 2007, p. 357). This coincided with the emergence of constructivism of which the core idea is that social life. i.e., norms of behavior, are produced by iterative social behavior and practice. In other words, norms of behavior are social constructions that are the product of how actors repeatedly interact with one another (Mauer, 2009, pp. 47-49). Contributions stemming from the constructivist school of thought led to the formation of securitization theory. Two of the main contributors from Copenhagen School of thought, Buzan and Wæver (2003), describe the phenomenon of securitization as follows: "the discursive process through which an intersubjective understanding is constructed within a political community to treat something as an existential threat to a valued referent object, and to enable a call for urgent and exceptional measures to deal with the threat" (Buzan & Wæver, 2003, p. 491).

According to Balzacq, Léonard, and Ruzicka (2016), three core concepts together form the foundational elements of securitization theory (Balzacq, Léonard and Ruzicka, 2016, pp. 499-507). These are 1) "the securitizing actor", i.e., the actor that depicts a phenomenon as a threat through a securitizing move; 2) "the referent object", i.e., the phenomenon that is being threatened; 3) "the audience", i.e. those who have to accept the securitizing move of the securitizing actor, which makes the threat construction process intersubjective (Balzacq, Léonard and Ruzicka, 2016, pp. 499-507).

As reported by to the Copenhagen School, it is necessary for phenomena to be securitized, to perform a speech act (Williams, 2003, pp. 512-515). A speech act is a performance by which simply uttering something, something else is being done. Within the securitization context, that means that when a representative of a given political community utters security, in a broad sense, combined with a certain event or phenomenon, it categorizes it within the domain of security as

an existential threat (Williams, 2003, pp. 512-515). For example, uttering that migration is an existential threat to the survival of the national community, one securitizes migration, justifying immediate and extraordinary measures (Huysmans, 2000, p. 758). Speech acts can only be successful if it is performed with the boundaries of generally accepted procedures of communication and if the securitizing actor possesses the authority and a coherent relationship with its audience to do so (Williams, 2003, p. 525).

The Copenhagen School's focus on performative speech acts did, however, receive the criticism of having a too narrow focus (Williams, 2003, pp. 524-528). The main criticism on this focus on speech is that the contemporary world of political communication is changing into one that increasingly uses *images*, instead of mere *speech* for communicative action. Television, the internet, and social media are increasingly important for the exchange of thoughts between and within communities. Hence, it is argued that images increasingly play a role in the process of securitization (Williams, 2003, pp. 524-528).

A school of thought propagating a different focus than the Copenhagen School is the later developed Paris School. Whereas the Copenhagen School primarily focuses on speech acts as the enabler of securitization, the Paris School focuses on practices and techniques of government (Balzacq, Léonard, & Ruzicka, 2016, pp. 504-507). Securitization is claimed to be a process in which practical and technical manners depict whether certain events or phenomena become securitized or not. The Paris School suggests that agents can be identified within a field according to their nature and power relationship to other agents within the field. Those power relations are defined by the amount of capital, i.e., power resources, an agent. Power resources can be identified in terms of, for instance, economic, cultural, symbolic, and information sources. Those agents in the field work together towards a shared body of interests, threat perception generation mechanism, and body of techniques to neutralize those threats. In this way, it is argued that such fields pave the way for "regimes of practices" in which power relations between agents define the routine of the securitizing practices' form and content. The notion of routine is important, as the mere performing of a securitizing move does not necessarily implicate that there is a routine of securitizing practices (Balzacq, Léonard, & Ruzicka, 2016, pp. 504-507). In practice, the leading Paris School author Bigo (2002) argues, the securitization of a phenomenon often occurs through a combination of speech acts and security practices (Bigo, 2002, pp. 65-66).

Building upon Bigo's work, Léonard (2010) defined securitizing practices as "activities that, by their very intrinsic qualities, convey the idea to those who observe them, directly or indirectly, that the issue they are tackling is a security threat" (Léonard, 2010, p. 237). For example, Léonard (2010) argues that the securitizing practices of the EU's FRONTEX are inherently contributing to the increasing securitization of migration as the organization's expertise and regime of security practices concerning border and migration control, enabled less capable states to develop security practices on those areas (Léonard, 2010, pp. 246-248).

It is important to note that securitization is not a dichotomous phenomenon, i.e., something is not either totally securitized or completely not (McInnes & Rushton, 2012, pp. 128-129). Rather, securitization takes place on a gradual scale on which, generally, issues do not transcend from being a "normal" issue to a full-on securitized issue. Instead, issues gradually climb up a ladder of security importance with most of them never actually reaching the level of full securitization. Conversely, securitized issues can also become less securitized (McInnes & Rushton, 2012, pp. 128-129).

Securitization theory has been used, for instance, to explain how climate change has become securitized, as scholars see it as a catalysator for future conflicts that pose existential threats (Brzoska, 2009, pp. 137-139). Another example is provided by McInnes and Rushton (2012) who argued that HIV/AIDS was increasingly categorized as an existential threat to the stability of states (McInnes & Rushton, 2012, pp. 121-123). Other scholars, such as Özcan (2013) use theories of securitization to examine the securitization of energy, as the possession of energy resources are crucial to the economic and military wellbeing of states, making the absence of it, or the usage of it as a political weapon, an existential threat to a state's stability (Özcan, 2013, pp. 11-16).

#### 2.2 Space security

Now that a review of securitization literature is in place, this second part of the literature review will proceed with the next major theoretical realm relevant to the research question, namely, space security.

#### 2.2.1 History of space security

Amidst the Cold War's Soviet-US space race, the United Nations General Assembly adopted the 1967 Outer Space Treaty (United Nations General Assembly, 1967). With the signing of this treaty, the groundwork for the emergence of international space law was constituted and it is ratified by a vast majority of states worldwide (Quinn, 2008, pp. 477-481). The treaty's main purpose was to prevent signatory states from claiming sovereignty over outer space or other celestial bodies. It did, however, recognize the value outer space has for peaceful initiatives, yet it strongly denounced the use of outer space for military and security activities by state parties (Quinn, 2008, pp. 477-481). Another important purpose of the treaty was to prevent states from placing weapons of mass destruction in outer space (United Nations Office for Disarmament Affairs, n.d.).

It is important to note that whereas the treaty prohibited some state actions within space, it did not prohibit private activities in space (Cunningham, 1985, pp. 804-806). Commercial activity in the realm of space development was accepted if those private actors were authorized by their home state governments to enter space, and only if they adhered to international law. Additionally, Article VI of the treaty states that state parties are responsible "for national activities in outer space, … whether such activities are carried on by governmental agencies or non-governmental entities". (Cunningham, 1985, pp. 804-806). This implicates that the behavior of private space companies on behalf of the United States, for example, finding a colony on Mars, would fall under de responsibility of the U.S. Government.

With the end of the Cold War, the fear of nuclear war launched from outer space significantly shrunk, whereas commercial activity in space rose (Quinn, 2008, pp. 477-491). As commercial interests and opportunities in outer space grew, states increasingly followed their "national interests", disregarding the Outer Space Treaty (Salin, 2001, pp. 19-25). According to scholars, privatization has accelerated in the 1990s, in turn increasing competition within the space sector. Most notably, scholars argue that this increased competition and activity of private actors within the sphere of spacefaring was accompanied by an increased militarization of space. As Salin already in 2001 argued, private space companies were ever more seen as the ones protecting national

interests in space. Moreover, he argued that increased commercialization of space was another way than militarization for states to increase their influence in outer space. Nevertheless, this increased privatization of space activities, paved the way for securitizing and militarizing space, as states were keen on protecting their business interests and influence in space. As more space actors sought to protect their business interests in space, increased security competition seemed inevitable (Salin, 2001, pp. 19-25).

#### 2.2.2 Contemporary Space Security

Salin's predictions of increased security competition in outer space, seem to be accurate to this day. Increasingly more states and private actors are active in the realm of space, and outer space itself is increasingly perceived as a domain of strategic competition (MacDonald & Council on Foreign Relations, 2008, p. 3). It made scholars revisit the concept of space security, establishing the following definition: "the ability to place and operate assets outside the Earth's atmosphere without external interference, damage, or destruction" (Moltz, 2011, p. 11).

While the importance of space capabilities for national security purposes grew, so did the incentive for non-space states to develop space programs of their own. Their aims are sometimes peaceful, but some aim at achieving space superiority: "the ability to use space for one's own purposes while denying it to an adversary" (Weeden & Samson, 2018, p. xvii). To defend themselves from threats from space and other states from achieving space superiority, states developed counterspace (CSO) strategies, otherwise known as space control: "Counterspace is the mission carried out to achieve space control objectives by gaining and maintaining control of activities conducted in or through the space environment" and aim "to achieve a desired degree of space control or space denial to an enemy" (Shabbir & Sarosh, 2018, pp. 122-124).

This adversarial nature of both the definitions of space superiority and counterspace is important because it underlines the construction of not being in control of outer space as a threat. Like scholars, governments also recognize this increasing securitization of outer space, even leading to an almost unanimously adopted UN resolution, calling upon UN member states to prevent the emergence of an arms race in outer space (Moltz, 2011, p. 3). Nevertheless, states have developed space strategies, ranging from great powers such as China, Russia, and India (Shabbir & Sarosh, 2018, p. 124), to more modest powers like Israel (Israel & Paikowsky, 2017, pp. 151-166).

The variety in power between those states illustrates that space activity is far from an exclusive superpower activity anymore. Moreover, it worries scholars such as Peoples (2011) that state actors and international organizations increasingly regard outer space as crucial to a modern society's infrastructure and, therefore, justify militarization and weaponization of it (Peoples, 2011, pp. 2-19). Whereas Peoples (2011) examines the implications of the securitization of space, coming from a state-centric approach, this thesis will examine the actual securitizing moves executed by the private sector.

#### 2.2.3 Space security within the United States context

As mentioned above, the United States was one of the world's two superpowers in the 1960s that were first in establishing space programs. The Outer Space Treaty prohibited the appropriation of outer space, as well as the placement of nuclear weapons in it by whatever state actor. The United States did, however, continue to develop their military space capabilities unilaterally, mostly aimed at achieving space superiority (Weeden & Samson, 2018, p. 78). With the end of the Cold War, space-related cooperation between the U.S. and Russia intensified, with the agreement to develop the International Space Station as a top-notch example of US-Russian space cooperation (Moltz, 2011, pp. 237-238).

The U.S. unilateral approach to space largely returned under the consecutive 2001 and 2005 Bush administrations, whereas Obama's sought to return to a more multilateral approach to space when he presented his 2010 National Space Policy (NSP) (Moltz, 2011, pp. 305-314). Within it, the administration toned down Bush's aggressive rhetoric concerning space security, and focused on economic and scientific, rather than military activity in space. Although the Obama administration did not increase expenditures on its military space capabilities, it did still push forward with several military projects that its predecessors had endowed. It is also important to note that the Obama administration recognized the growing importance of private players in the space domain and their potential to dramatically lower the costs of spacefaring and satellite launching capabilities, granting the U.S. huge benefits (Moltz, 2011, pp. 305-314).

The subsequent Trump administration, in 2018 voiced its vision of a department specifically dedicated to space security within the military domain, the so-called United States Space Force (Dolman, 2019, pp. 16-17). As of December 2019, this new branch of the US military was established, itself claiming its creation to be a reaction to the increasing threats posed by other space powers to the U.S. national security (United States Space Force, n.d.). Trump's administration

revitalized the U.S. unilateral approach to space and heavily invested in enlarging U.S. space capabilities. In achieving this, it saw an important role for the booming PSI which it provided with an unparalleled robust regulatory framework (Tronchetti & Liu, 2018, pp. 418-422). Increasingly working with the private space sector gave both the industry and American space program an immense boost. Companies such as SpaceX, ULA, and Virgin Galactic today all compete for contracts to bring astronauts, cargo, and satellites into space for NASA, as well as for contracts with the U.S. military (Tronchetti & Liu, 2018, pp. 418-422).

SpaceX and Virgin Galactic could be categorized into the rather novel NewSpace industry. Scholars describe NewSpace to be a recent trend of extreme exponential growth of the PSI which develops quick and cheap access to outer space and is oriented at commercial benefits, which is different from the traditional space industry that rather focusses security and science which is sometimes called Old Space (Muelhaupt, Sorge, Morin, & Wilson, 2019, p. 80). Although these private actors have a commercial character, they do lead to increased competition in space as easy access to space is proliferated amongst states for which it previously would have been too expensive to enter space (Quintana, 2017, pp. 90-94). As mentioned earlier, the commercial growth in space activity in the past led to states following their own interests and protecting their space assets by securitizing space (Salin, 2001, pp. 19-25), which is of much resemblance with what scholars see happening now (Quintana, 2017, pp. 94-95).

#### 2.4 PMSCs

Building upon Peter Singer's (2008) groundbreaking work *Corporate Warriors: the Rise of the Privatized Military Industry* a plausible case can be made that some private space companies look a lot like private military and security companies (PMSCs). According to Singer (2008) PMSCs are commercial competitive companies that offer military services on the market of force, who tick (most of) the following boxes: it 1) has a corporate structure; 2) contains a business profit-driven culture; 3) has the character of a legal public entity; 4) offers a wide range of services to a varied clientele; 5) recruits new specialized employees publicly; 6) is tied to a corporate holding and the financial market (Singer, 2008, pp. 44-48).

Accordingly, PMSCs are categorized in three different service domains, namely: 1) military provider firms that provide combat services and are often aimed at force-multiplying; 2) military consultant firms that provide military advice or other strategic, operational, or organization insights and knowledge; 3) military support firms that provide supplementary military services such as" logistics, intelligence, technical support, supply, and transportation" (Singer, 2008, pp. 91-100). It is important to note, however, despite them not being active in actual combat action, militaries are crucially dependable on the services of military support firms for the proper execution of military operations. Moreover, "they (PMSCs) have either expanded into the military support market after reaching a level of dominance in their original business ventures elsewhere or found it to be an external area where they could maximize previously established commercial capabilities" (Singer, 2008, pp. 91-100). This increasingly seems to be the case with companies such as SpaceX, ULA, and Virgin Galactic.

Building upon Singer's (2008) work, this thesis argues that private space companies such as SpaceX, ULA, and Virgin Galactic might sometimes be considered as PMSCs. That is the case because they then are commercial actors that are active in the military and national security realm and additionally tick all six of Singer's (2008) boxes. For example, companies such as Virgin Galactic (Virgin Galactic, 2019), as well as SpaceX (Sheetz, 2021) have signed contracts with the respective Italian and U.S. militaries to bring astronauts into space, with their own commercially developed spacecraft. In addition, SpaceX won a \$149 million contract with the military, to develop satellites that can track intercontinental ballistic missiles, which the US military itself is not yet capable of (Duffy, 2020a). A third and striking example is that of SpaceX being contracted to develop new rockets for the US military that enables it to transport a load of 80 metric tons to any destination in the world within an hour (Duffy, 2020b).

Hence, these companies have entered the military domain and, therefore, reflecting on Singer's (2008) typology of PMSCs, a plausible case can be made that private space could sometimes be seen as PMSCs. Until present, scholars of PMSCs have so far overlooked the linkages between outer space and PMSCs. This thesis argues, however, that as outer space is increasingly seen as a domain of the military and importance for the national security of states, the role of private space companies should not be neglected. This is important because PMSCs in the past have proven to be securitizing actors themselves as well, for instance in the War on Drugs. Here, such companies are highly active and incentivized to maintain and enhance the by the government securitized status of drugs and to keep the War on Drugs going, as it provides them with revenues (Hobson, 2014, pp. 1448-1452). If private space companies are considered to be PMSCs, it then could be explainable why they are securitizing space, as they are financially incentivized.

#### 2.5 Literature review conclusion

Throughout this literature review, the core concepts central to this thesis were thoroughly examined. What became clear, is that the Copenhagen School contributed to securitization theory with speech acts, that the Paris School added securitizing practices and that images are important securitizing tools as well.

Additionally, it became clear that American politicians increasingly regard outer space as a domain that is crucial to the United States' national security. Simultaneously, space capabilities of the private industry grew to unprecedented heights, and the number of space actors rose accordingly. Scholars have identified a growing securitization of space by states, whereas they simultaneously recognized the immense boom in the PSI. Scholars did, however, pay less attention to the role of this private industry in the securitization of space. They acknowledged that the privatization of space during the 1990s led to more space nationalism and the pursuance of states' national interests. As the commercial activity and importance of outer space grew, so did the incentive to protect those assets. Hence, scholars argued that the securitization of space was partly due to the increased activity of the PSI.

With the emergence of the NewSpace industry and SpaceX, ULA, and Virgin Galactic as huge players in the field of spacefaring, this privatization continued. Those companies' successes were partly due to the hugely beneficial and unparalleled regulatory framework created by the United States government. Those companies proliferate spacefaring capabilities to other private actors and states, who are interested in entering space due to the of dramatically lowered costs of entrance. Hence, space is ever more crowded and of interest for a growing range of actors.

The question remains, however, how exactly the contemporary PSI might be a securitizing actor itself. Although the literature pays some attention to the securitization of space and the role of privatization in the 1990s, it does not articulate how private actors themselves are performing securitizing moves and rather focuses on states. This thesis is particularly interested in how private space companies are securitizing space and particularly through what moves. Therefore, the research question central to this thesis will be: "To what extent did the private space industry influence the securitization of outer space within the United States in the period 2010-2021?".

## Chapter 3 - Methodology

#### 3.1 Research objectives and relevance

The goal of this thesis is to examine the role of the PSI in the securitization process of outer space. Based on the literature, it became clear that space becomes increasingly securitized. Now, it is of utmost importance to understand how the dynamics behind this process work. Whereas previous scholars particularly focused on the role of states in this securitization process, the role of the PSI received less attention. However, the PSI experienced an immense boom in activity, especially in the last decade, and entered the security domain by signing military contracts with various governments. Hence, it would be wise not to underestimate its influence, and to scrutinize its actions, as the companies might be securitizing themselves.

As mentioned in the literature review, the literature pointed at three different foci of securitization theory, namely, speech acts, images, and performativity. This thesis will make use of the theories of speech acts and performative securitizing moves, i.e., the Copenhagen and Paris Schools. If combined, the method of analysis will be more robust, as the literature review has shown that using either one solely, might be insufficient. It will not, however, use theories of securitization through images, due to the thesis's constrain in the form of a word limit.

It is important to understand the rapid development of the PSI and its potentially securitizing character, as this could have colossal implications for the international approach to space security. There has not yet been actual warfighting in space, but all world powers recognize that achieving space dominance in a future conflict, might turn out to be a decisive mechanism for victory on Earth itself (Shabbir & Sarosh, 2018, pp. 124-128). In turn, the PSI could alter the dynamics of such conflicts because it expands the capabilities of states to enter space militarily and enhances those of the states already present there. It is then partly responsible for the outcome of these changing dynamics of international (in)security. Hence, it is justified to examine the role of the private industry in the securitization of space.

This thesis wants to underline that it is not necessarily the intention behind these companies' statements that make them securitizing actors or not. Such companies can also do this unintentionally, nevertheless contributing to the securitization of outer space. Hence, this thesis should not be seen as a normative attack on the PSI or a moral crusade against their growing importance. Instead, it aims at objectively unveiling their influence on the securitization of outer space, by simply focusing on the possibility that actors from the private industry perform

securitizing moves. It is not aimed at subsequently judging those moves from a normative perspective.

#### 3.2 Justification of research method: Qualitative – Discourse Analysis

For explaining the influence of the PSI in the ongoing securitization of space, qualitative research would suit best. Qualitative research, as defined by Fossey, Harvey, McDermott, and Davidson (2002) "is a broad umbrella term for research methodologies that describe and explain persons' experiences, behaviors, interactions, and social contexts without the use of statistical procedures or quantification" (Fossey, et al., 2002, p. 717). In addition, "Qualitative research also lends itself to developing knowledge in poorly understood, or complex, areas" (Fossey, et al., 2002, p. 718). This research's novel focus on the private industry rather than on states makes this thesis a splendid case for qualitative research.

As mentioned by Fossey et al. (2002), qualitative research lacks the inclusion of statistics and quantification. Instead, this thesis will build upon a discourse analysis. Discourse analysis is interested, quite obviously, in the analysis of discourses. Discourses, in turn, are described as "(discourse) refers to groups of statements that structure the way a thing is thought, and the way we act on the basis of that thinking" (Rose, 2016, pp. 187-191). In addition, Rose argues that discourses are voiced through various mediums, which could be texts, images, as well as practices. Rose built upon the work of Foucault, who argued that: "Discourse disciplines subjects into certain ways of thinking and acting, but this is not simply repressive; it does not impose rules for thought and behavior on a pre-existing human agent. Instead, human subjects are produced through discourses. Our sense of our self is made through the operation of discourse. So too are objects, relations, places, scenes: discourse produces the world as it understands it" (Rose, 2016, pp. 187-191). In other words, discourses are thought constructions that give certain meanings to phenomena, that in turn have their effects on other discourses.

In turn, discourse analysis is a research method that aims at examining such discourses and tries to uncover the dynamics behind those words, images, or practices. According to Looma (1998), discourse analysis: "makes it possible to trace connections between the visible and the hidden, the dominant and the marginalized, ideas and institutions. It allows us to see how power works through language, literature, culture and the institutions which regulate our daily lives" (Loomba, 1998, p. 45). As this thesis' focus will be on examining speech acts and performative actions, discourse analysis as described above would be a good fit, as this research method examines the power through discourse the PSI might have in securitizing outer space.

Baker, Gabrielatos, and McEnery (2013), for instance, used discourse analysis to divulge how the British Media had a predisposition against Muslims and Islam (Baker, Gabrielatos, & McEnery, 2013, pp. 1-34). By analyzing an immense body of newspaper articles by looking at the frequency of the specific words Muslim, Muslims, Islam, Islamic in certain grammatical patterns, they managed to point out the presentation of those words. For instance, they were able to answer how the British media in general patterns associated Muslims with actions they might have performed, and "examine common predication strategies that attribute qualities to Muslims" (Baker, Gabrielatos, & McEnery, 2013, pp. 1-34). They finally concluded that Muslims in the British media are generally associated with conflict revealing a pattern of thinking, as well as a power structure towards the Muslim community. This is a perfect example of how the analysis of words can uncover patterns, which in turn resemble a way of thinking about a certain subject and a power structure.

Also being a discourse analysis, but focusing on a completely different subject and medium, is the work of Tamatea, Hardy, and Ninnes (2008). Within their work, they analyze the web pages of International Schools within the Indo-Pacific region and argue that while those schools are claiming to offer unique curricula to their students, discourse analysis offers the insight that they actually offer quite the same, yet paradoxical programs, aiming at forming their students either to "individual selves, members of communities, or as individuals in the world" (Tamatea, Hardy, & Ninnes, 2008, pp. 157-170). With a sample of 100 schools from 21 Indo-Pacific countries, they methodologically organized the schools' statements on "concerning the types of students the school was trying to produce". Subsequently, these statements were categorized, into groupings aligning with the three earlier mentioned aims of student forming. Ultimately, they uncovered that the general thinking on education at those International Schools, as represented by the discourse on their web pages, resembles much of globalization as a frame for education. Paradoxically, the schools' goals are often rather contradictory to one another and not always in line with this overarching paradigm.

The overarching point of these two examples is that discourse analysis can be looking at completely different subjects in completely different ways through different mediums yet is always curious about uncovering hidden patterns of thinking that in turn shape our understanding and handling of certain phenomena.

Building upon these examples, this thesis will use discourse analysis to analyze the webpages of private space companies themselves, to read between the lines, and uncover how general thinking on those websites exhibits securitizing moves. For instance, if the webpages contain a discourse that suggests that outer space is a domain of national security importance, those uncovered thinking patterns might in turn hint at securitizing moves. Therefore, the usage of discourse analysis for the uncovering of securitizing moves seems an excellent fit.

In contrast to Baker, Gabrielatos, and McEnery (2013), this thesis will not analyze the frequency of a particular phrasing. They were able to do so, as they have analyzed millions of words and a vast body of sources. This thesis, instead, will only use the webpages of the private space companies in question. This small body of data does not allow for a focus on frequency, simply because the N would be too small, and it would be rash to draw conclusions by that method. Therefore, it rather focusses on the written text available, combined with the spoken word from speeches in videos posted on their webpages and discovered securitizing acts and practices. It will seek to uncover hidden patterns in words and actions, that inhabit overarching ideas about how these companies consider space. It is key to uncover those discourses that might contain securitizing moves or implications.

#### 3.3 Research context, case selection, and justification of timeframe

As mentioned earlier, the United States is chosen as the scope of study, as their PSI is rather mature compared to, for instance, its European counterpart (Innovation Finance Advisory & European Investment Advisory Hub, 2019, pp. 78-105). In addition, the United States still is the state with the biggest public spending on space activity and is the leading state actor in that realm, although China follows suit (Peeters, 2018, pp. 1-3). Furthermore, it explicitly portrays space as a domain of security and military importance, for instance, illustrated by the formation of the Space Force in 2018 (United States Space Force, n.d.). A final reason why the United States context would fit this thesis best, is simply that the leading companies in the PSI are based in the United States.

The three cases investigated will be SpaceX, ULA, and Virgin Galactic. Those three have been selected as "typical cases" as typified by Seawright and Gerring (2008), meaning that these are cases that are typical and representative examples of the relationship between the PSI and the securitization of space (Seawright & Gerring, 2008, p. 297). Other private space companies like Blue Origin could have been chosen as well. While it is a prominent NewSpace player, the lack of data on its activities within the security realm makes it a less useful case for this thesis. In turn, another reason to select SpaceX, ULA, and Virgin Galactic is simply due to data availability. The sources used to investigate these cases will predominantly be primary sources, comprising of the three companies' entire webpages. Additionally, secondary sources put forward in the literature review will be put in synergy with the analysis' findings in the discussion chapter.

The timeframe that sets this research's boundaries for investigation will be the period 2010-2021. 2010 has been chosen as a starting point, as this was the year that the Obama administration's new National Space Policy (NSP) was published, which underlined the growing importance of the PSI for the United States to pursue its interests in outer space (Moltz, 2011, pp. 313-314). The period more closely up for scrutinization is 2018-2021, due to article availability on the three companies' websites which only goes back until that recently. Nevertheless, the starting point of investigation is set at 2010, as the discourses found are not merely representing knowledge of the past three years, but have been there, and are constructed, a longer time ago. 2021 has been chosen as the outer boundary of the timeframe. Space activity has seen rapid and exponential growth in recent years, which makes it necessary to include sources that have only recently become available.

# Chapter 4 – Analysis

This chapter will discuss the discourse analysis' findings. As mentioned in the methodology section, three webpages of private space companies will be investigated to uncover discourses that potentially contain securitizing moves. The chapter will proceed as follows. First, an actor description will be presented on the three private space companies in question, namely SpaceX, Virgin Galactic, and ULA. Secondly, the actual analysis of their webpages will be presented, in which the overarching discourses found will be illustrated. In turn, this provides the means for the next chapter to present a discussion, in which the findings from the analysis will be brought into synthesis with the theories discussed in the literature review.

#### 4.1 Actor descriptions

As mentioned above, this section will provide an actor overview for SpaceX, Virgin Galactic, and ULA. It is important to provide this information because discourses and their possible securitizing implications can only be thoroughly understood if the ones producing them are specified first. Therefore, this section will provide a concise overview of the actors, including the companies' owners, services, and foci.

#### 4.1.1 SpaceX

SpaceX is a NewSpace company (Taylor, 2021), and was founded in 2002 by its current CEO and majority owner Elon Musk, a philanthropic billionaire (Kluger, n.d.). One of the goals of Musk is to colonize Mars, which he sees as the enabler of survival of the human species, which he expects to be wiped out at one point in the future by some catastrophic event on Earth if the human species does not become multi-planetary (SpaceX, n.d.-e).

SpaceX made some revolutionary progressions in spacefaring technology, as it was the leading company to develop reusable rockets to bring people and payloads into orbital space (Reddy, 2018, pp. 125-127). Together with the efforts of other private space companies, it managed to bring down the costs of putting 1 kg of cargo into orbital space from almost \$1.000.000 in the late 1950s, to roughly \$1400 in 2021 and aims at bringing the costs down to \$10 within a few years (van Manen, Sweijs, & Bolder, 2021, p. 2). Analysts point out that this steep drop in costs to put objects into space, be they cargo, people, or satellites, significantly enlarges the capabilities of both states and private entities to engage in space activity (van Manen, Sweijs, & Bolder, 2021, p. 28). Hence, they predict that the number of satellites will grow exponentially in the near future, as well as the new ability to mine on other celestial bodies (van Manen, Sweijs, & Bolder, 2021, p. 28). The success

story of SpaceX encouraged other companies and governments from different parts of the world to focus on reusable rocketry as well, which is designated to be the SpaceX-effect (Reddy, 2018, p. 132). The fact that a company is depicted to be so influential that an effect bears its name, is illustrative of the leading role SpaceX has in the PSI.

The activities in which SpaceX is involved include bringing cargo and astronauts to the International Space Station (Kluger, n.d.), and satellite launching for military and national security purposes contracted by the U.S. military (Klotz, 2017). In addition, the company is building a worldwide high-speed, low-latency broadband internet network called Starlink, which is supposed to be supported by bringing up to 42.000 satellites into orbit, which are to be produced and launched by the company itself (Wall, 2019). Another activity it is involved in, is the research and development of new technologies that could enlarge the capabilities for spacefaring and the usage of outer space for activities on Earth. This is illustrated by the company's contract with the U.S. military to develop missile-tracking satellites (Duffy, 2020a), as well as launchers that can bring weaponry anywhere on Earth within an hour (Duffy, 2020b). These contracts are illustrative of SpaceX's leading role in, as well as the U.S. military's reliance on, the private research and development of space technology. The U.S. government is not, however, the only governmental customer of SpaceX. For instance, the company also launched the military satellite Turksat 5A for the Turkish government, which supports its military operations (Gohd, 2020).

#### 4.1.2 Virgin Galactic

The second NewSpace actor up for scrutinization is Virgin Galactic, which is the world's first publicly traded private space company founded in 2004 by the entrepreneurial billionaire Sir Richard Branson (Taylor, 2021; Young, 2021). Inspired by the moon landing, he invested in Virgin Galactic, using the money generated from his other companies that together comprise a large conglomerate. As he envisioned, it's the company's mission to democratize space, by which is meant "ordinary people" and scientists are enabled to make space journeys of their own, using Virgin Galactic's tourist rockets (Virgin Galactic, n.d.-a). Hence, its mission could be seen to proliferate the opportunity of entering space and an attempt to establish a branch of space tourism. Aside from the commercial benefits this space tourism brings, the company claims to have an ideational mission as well, which is to bring people into space to literally see Earth from a different perspective, in turn encouraging to foster good relationships with one another and to take better care of planet Earth (Virgin Galactic, n.d.-b). Virgin Galactic puts weight in its pursuit of space

democratization by building its own reusable rockets and providing space access infrastructure, all aimed at providing individual consumers the opportunity to make a tour in space.

Although the company thus primarily aims at the individual consumer, it also engages with governments and militaries from around the world. In 2020, it announced to have signed a contract with the Italian Air Force to put three Italian researchers into space, who are to conduct experiments making use of the absence of gravity (Virgin Galactic, 2019). It will be the first contract the Italians have granted to a private space company for bringing astronauts into space. In addition, General Stefano Cont, Italy's Defence and Defence Cooperation Attaché claimed that: "The skills and contributions of the Air Force, when combined with those of other national institutions are helping to maintain Italian leadership in the aerospace domain. Our interest in this program ties directly to the Air Force main mission, which is at its core national airspace defense" (Virgin Galactic, 2019). This is a striking example of how seemingly commercial-focused private space companies can simultaneously be involved in the military domain, as the Italians deem this mission to be in their national security interest.

#### 4.1.3 United Launch Alliance (ULA)

A private space company rather different than SpaceX and Virgin Galactic is United Launch Alliance (ULA). Before the private space boom, the American companies Boeing and Lockheed Martin were the primary providers for the U.S. government of space launch services (Kovacic, 2020, pp. 863-873). In 2005 they decided to bundle their strengths and monopolize the market of space launch services for the U.S. government. Therefore, they founded the joint venture ULA in 2006, of which both companies still hold a 50% share each, which could be seen as the first major difference compared to the two previously discussed cases that were founded and primarily owned by billionaires (Kovacic, 2020, pp. 863-873). It is important to note that these two space companies already were longer involved in the providing of space services and are categorized as the more established PSI. Hence, this joint venture is not seen as a NewSpace player, but rather one of the Old Space generations, which is the second difference with the other cases selected (Smart, 2016).

The third major difference is the services it is aiming at and its explicit stance on that. Whereas SpaceX and Virgin Galactic primarily portray themselves to be private actors with commercial and ideational aims, ULA also has an explicit focus on providing services that bolster the United States' military capabilities and national security (United Launch Alliance, n.d.-a). Although ULA mentions that it also focusses on the general wellbeing of ordinary humans across the globe, scholars view

the company as the former most important provider of launch capabilities for the U.S. Military. (Kovacic, 2020, pp. 889-894). Until 2014, it was the primary provider for the U.S. government for national security launch services. It has lost significant terrain on the market of military and national security-related launch capabilities, however, to SpaceX (Kovacic, 2020, pp. 889-894). A striking example of this is a \$653 million contract from 2020 awarded by the US Space Force to launch national security satellites, of which \$337 million went to ULA and \$316 million to SpaceX (U.S. Department of Defense, 2020). The fact that ULA had a monopoly on government contracts and now must share it for a large part with its competitor SpaceX is illustrative of the broken hegemony of ULA. The fact remains, however, that ULA is a significant player within this domain, clearly illuminated by the fact that it still got the bigger share of the 2020 contract. Therefore, the company is deemed of great importance and included within this investigation.

#### 4.2 Discourse Analysis

Now that the actor descriptions are in place, this section will present the discourse analysis' outcomes. The analysis was performed on the webpages of the three private space companies discussed above and sought to find overarching discourses. To successfully outline them, statements were grouped if appropriate, into patterns of information that together form a discourse. The results presented here will later be discussed in the separate discussion section and will there be put into synthesis theories presented in the literature review. Hence, this section merely focuses on the presentation of the found discourses.

As four overarching discourses are found, they will all receive subsections of their own. It is important to note that two of the discourses found are represented on all three websites, whereas the other two are only found on either the webpage of SpaceX or ULA. Nevertheless, this thesis has chosen to include the latter two as well, because they could represent important securitizing discourses, even though they are only found on one webpage. Additionally, the fact that a discourse is absent on the other two pages, does not necessarily exclude the possibility that a discourse is covertly present within the company itself. For instance, nowhere on the website of SpaceX, it says that the company is there to protect American national security, whereas ULA overtly claims it is (United Launch Alliance, n.d.-a). Simultaneously, however, it became clear that SpaceX is involved in military activities and today serves as a prime provider of launch services for the U.S. military (U.S. Department of Defense, 2020). Therefore, including such an uncovered discourse is important, because the textually presented foci of companies do not necessarily represent the entire range of activities it is involved in. In turn, future research could further explore those discourses through other sources. It is important to note, however, that it is not possible to generalize those two discourses to the three companies as a whole and, therefore, this thesis will avoid that. Besides, it is simply impossible to know whether a discourse is covertly present within a company, so this thesis will refrain from claiming that. The two discourses presented first, are the discourses found on all three webpages. The last two have only been identified on the websites of either SpaceX or ULA.

#### 4.3 Space is a positive transformative enabler and should therefore be democratized

The first discourse found on all the three webpages in question is that SpaceX, Virgin Galactic, and ULA, recognize the power of spacefaring as a powerful enabler for a transformative process to start that will change Earth and humanity as we know it permanently and for "good" purposes, such as commerce and science. Virgin Galactic, for example, claims on its "purpose" page that: "the answers to many of the challenges we face in sustaining life on our beautiful but fragile planet, lie in making better use of space. Sending people to space has not only expanded our understanding of science, but taught us amazing things about human ingenuity, physiology, and psychology. From space, we are able to look with a new perspective both outward and back" (Virgin Galactic, n.d.b). In addition, SpaceX's owner Elon Musk talks about spacefaring in similar ways, but ads the twist that spacefaring is also a symbol of hope: "You want to wake up in the morning and think the future is going to be great - and that's what being a spacefaring civilization is all about. It's about believing in the future and thinking that the future will be better than the past" (SpaceX, n.d.-c). The webpage of ULA poses similar ideas about spacefaring. For instance, it claims to be proud to help another private party to establish a network cheap and easily accessible universal internet (United Launch Alliance, 2021b), as well as emphasizing how its previous projects helped to understand "the planet's oceans, atmosphere, land masses, vegetation and polar ice caps" (United Launch Alliance, 2021c).

The requirement for this process to succeed is that space needs to be democratized. This means that spacefaring should be accessible for everyone, ranging from states, private enterprises, to individuals, through significantly bringing down its costs by using reusable spaceships (SpaceX, n.d.-c). For instance, SpaceX plans on bringing a Japanese billionaire to the moon in 2023, partly because it is "enabling access for people who dream of traveling to space" (SpaceX, 2021a). This underlines the discourse posed by SpaceX that in the end, more and more people should be able to enter space. In addition, Virgin Galactic posted a video of the renowned planetary scientist Alan Stern talking about the company enthusiastically because he is excited by how the company is "going to democratize space by allowing so many people that would never have a chance to experience it otherwise" (Virgin Galactic, 2018). The fact that the company itself posted this video, underlines its effort to portray itself as a proponent for the democratization of space. Additionally, the companies' order pages exhibit how uncomplicated it seems to be to contract SpaceX and Virgin Galactic for bringing anyone's business into space (SpaceX, n.d.-d; Virgin Galactic, n.d.-c).

This democratization brings pursuance of inclusivity on multiple levels with it as well: "As a result of this underrepresentation, the aerospace sector is missing out on the advantages brought by hiring, training, and empowering diverse groups of talented people to drive innovation" (Virgin Galactic, 2021a). Therefore, Virgin Galactic grants African American youths study scholarships and aims at empowering those students through tutoring them, hoping it will subsequently improve their representation in the aerospace industry. Moreover, Virgin Galactic is bringing a prizewinning woman from Antigua into space, making her the first person from the Caribbean region to ever enter space (Virgin Galactic, 2021b). This inclusivity is, however, not only focused on the individual level, but the companies also aim at bringing more states than just the United States into space. For instance, SpaceX's Falcon 9 has brought Turksat 5a into space for the Turkish government (SpaceX, 2021e), whereas Virgin Galactic is helping the Italian Air Force to bring their researchers into space (Virgin Galactic, 2019). It is important to note, however, that although it became clear that these companies indeed work for foreign governments as well, that does not necessarily mean that they are willing and allowed to work for every government, regardless of its origins. Moreover, ULA's website does not possess a single word on working for governments other than that of the United States, which seems to be its most important state customer.

To conclude, a pattern was found on the three companies' webpages that poses the discourse that spacefaring is a crucial business as it enables the commence of a transformative process that improves general human-wellbeing through science and commerce. For this process to succeed, space needs to be democratized, meaning that access to it should be proliferated, both on the individual as well as on the state level.

#### 4.4 The PSI must contribute to the maintenance of U.S. leadership in space

The second discourse found on all three webpages was that the companies want to contribute to maintaining U.S. leadership in space. This becomes evident, for instance, in SpaceX's statement concerning NASA's choice to contract them to bring astronauts back to the moon for the first time since 1972: "Together, NASA and SpaceX have successfully executed similarly bold and innovative partnerships, including restoring America's ability to launch astronauts to orbit and return them safely home. We will build upon our shared accomplishments, and leverage years of close technical collaboration to return to the Moon. In doing so, we will lay the groundwork for human exploration to Mars and beyond" (SpaceX, 2021b). By emphasizing the fact that it has restored America's ability to bring astronauts into orbit and soon to the Moon, SpaceX acknowledges its pride or perhaps some patriotic feeling towards such a special event. In addition,

by portraying this as only the beginning, and Mars as the next step, it underlines the desire to bring more American astronauts into orbit as well. Moreover, they take very much pride in establishing records for the United States, for instance, setting the world record for the longest consecutive spaceflight so far (SpaceX, 2021c), as well as having the only spaceship in the world that can carry a significant weight of cargo back to Earth (SpaceX, n.d.-a).

The fact that SpaceX as a private actor brought American astronauts to the International Space Station, made Virgin Galactic's CEO put out a similar celebratory statement: "The NASA demo-2 SpaceX launch is part of a larger story that we should all recognize and celebrate. It is and will increasingly be, a global story, but the US can be proud to have taken the lead in harnessing the ingenuity and innovation of the private space sector. This, enabled by forward-looking policies from its public leaders and civil space program, has laid the foundations for the next space age" (Virgin Galactic, 2020a). This appreciative statement applauding the US government's dedication to the private space sector and vice versa, is illustrative of the underlying idea that it is important to maintain the U.S. leading role in spacefaring. Within that same statement, the CEO emphasized the important role the PSI has for the United States: "Especially during these challenging times brought about by the COVID-19 pandemic, this future-oriented workforce gives us confidence in the ultimate resilience of our nation and economy" (Virgin Galactic, 2020a). Hence, he accentuates the PSI's role in securing the U.S. leading role in space, also for the benefits of the American nation and economy. That U.S. space leadership is important in economic terms is evident as well, for instance, through that same CEO's reaction to the agreement Virgin Galactic signed with NASA to support commercial actors in bringing humans to the International Space Stations: "Based on the unsurpassed levels of spaceflight customer commitments we have secured to date, we are proud to share that insight in helping to grow another market for the new space economy" (Virgin Galactic, 2020b). This, in turn, implicates a discourse that besides the importance of U.S. leadership in spacefaring capabilities, economic leadership and growth are also of importance.

ULA poses ideas of similar importance, for instance through boasting that it is honored to work with NASA and that it provided the capability for the U.S. to visit Mars 20 times and launched all the government's weather and Geostationary Operational Environmental Satellites (United Launch Alliance, 2021a). However, the most striking example of ULA's dedication to maintaining the U.S. leading role in space is its mission: "Focus on our customer's mission. The technologies we enable protect our country and troops on the battlefield, enable search and rescue, provide a backbone for business, and connect families across the globe. They help us explore our city and learn about

our solar system and places beyond" (United Launch Alliance, n.d.-a). By explicitly stating that ULA is there to focus on the mission of its customer, which in this U.S. government case could be seen as maintaining space superiority, protecting U.S. troops on the battlefield, and the provision of economic gains, ULA underlines the discourse that the maintenance of U.S. space leadership is of utmost importance. Moreover, it states it is there to provide economic gains for local communities by their nation-wide presence (United Launch Alliance, n.d.-a) and is there to provide: "one of the most technically complex, critical American needs: affordable, reliable access to space" (United Launch Alliance, n.d.-d). These statements combined strongly reinforce the discourse that the PSI is there to maintain the U.S.'s leading role in space.

The three companies might be able to make these statements credible due to their technological power, which the United States seems reliant on. Moreover, ULA's predecessors helped NASA to achieve its goals throughout the second half of the 20th century, which make it the oldest public-private partnership in the realm of spacefaring, making ULA a powerful actor possibly capable of posing such credible statements. Yet it remains challenging to determine whether the actors have met the requirement of possessing enough authority.

Whereas SpaceX and Virgin Galactic refrain from linking U.S. leadership to threats of other ascending spacefaring nations, ULA takes on a different strategy. In a speech addressed to a U.S. Congress sub-committee, for instance, ULA's CEO stated that: "With the benefit of ULA's launch services, NASA's Perseverance and Ingenuity are achieving major technical breakthroughs and making exciting new discoveries on Mars. In doing so, NASA is ... demonstrating that the United States remains the global leader of space exploration, outpacing China's aggressive space program, which is a major component of the Chinese Communist Party's ambition to supplant U.S. global leadership and replace democracy with authoritarianism as the global model for governance" (United Launch Alliance, 2021d). With this statement, the CEO linked ULA's services as crucial to the maintenance of U.S. space leadership. In addition, it is remarkable that he explicitly links the company's services to a space race between China and the United States which, according to him, must be won by the U.S. to hamper China from exporting its model of authoritarian governance. By doing this, ULA's CEO underlines the company's dedication to maintaining U.S. space leadership, in turn reinforcing the discourse that it is of great importance for the private industry to do so.

#### 4.5 The human species is endangered, the colonization of Mars is the solution

The third discourse found when examining the three webpages, was only explicitly found on one, namely that of SpaceX. The general idea behind this discourse is that SpaceX and its owner Elon Musk, in particular, foresee that eventually the human species will be wiped out from Earth, either through humans themselves or some unknown natural catastrophe (SpaceX, n.d.-e). Therefore, the endurance of humanity needs to be protected, for instance through settling on Mars. In a speech posted on the SpaceX website, Elon Musk stated that: "The purpose of SpaceX, was to accelerate the advent of humanity becoming a spacefaring civilization to help advance rocket technology to a point where we could potentially become a multi-planet species and a true spacefaring civilization. As we consider the fossil record, the history of civilization, it is important to bear in mind there could be some natural event or some manmade event that ends civilization as we know it, and life as we know it. And so, it is important that we try to become a multi-planet civilization, extend life beyond earth and to do so as quickly as we can. That window of opportunity may be open for a long time, or it may be open for a short time, but we should not assume that it is open for a long time. We should take action and become a multi-planet civilization as soon as possible" (SpaceX, n.d.-e). This way, Musk's words reflect a securitizing discourse through speech act, in which he deems the human species to be the referent object, which is threatened by an unknown but humanity-annihilating catastrophe, hence justifying the accelerated colonization of Mars as it prevents the extinction of humankind. SpaceX and Elon Musk seem to have the authority to make these claims as they have the technological know-how and are perceived to be icons in space pioneering. They have achieved extraordinary milestones, have broken the ULA monopoly on launch services and its owner is a proven entrepreneur with millions of followers around the world. Hence, Elon Musk and his company might be able to make these claims credible.

To underline its vision, SpaceX states the purpose of its new flagship Starship: "Building cities on Mars will require affordable delivery of significant quantities of cargo and people. The fully reusable Starship system uses in-space propellant transfer to achieve this and carry people on long-duration, interplanetary flights" (SpaceX, n.d.-b). The fact that it claims to develop technology that enables humanity to colonize Mars, further accelerates colonization, adhering to the earlier posed discourse. Furthermore, the company launched NASA Project DART, which: "is humanity's first planetary defense test mission to see if intentionally crashing a spacecraft into an asteroid is an effective way to change its course, should an Earth-threatening asteroid be discovered in the future" (SpaceX, 2021d). The webpage of SpaceX so far is the only one containing statements that fit into this discourse. The fact that it launched a NASA project that aims to protect Earth from incoming

asteroids, however, indicates that the company is not the only one worried about the possibility of a humanity-threatening catastrophe.

# 4.6 The PSI is there to both support U.S. military performance and assist in persevering its national security.

The fourth and last discourse found throughout this analysis was only explicitly found on the webpage of ULA. The general idea behind this discourse is that it is important for the PSI to assist the U.S. Government and armed forces to both boost and support military performance, as well as assist it on national security matters. As noted earlier, ULA's mission explicitly focuses on supporting the U.S. armed forces: "The technologies we enable protect our country and troops in the battlefield" (United Launch Alliance, n.d.-a). Moreover, the company offers and supports critical launches of classified defense systems (United Launch Alliance, n.d.-b), and takes pride in delivering "high-priority" payloads into orbit for the U.S. Air Force and National Reconnaissance Office (United Launch Alliance, n.d.-c).

Furthermore, within the previously mentioned speech of ULA's CEO to a Congressional subcommittee, the following statement was made: "ULA remains the only launch provider capable of meeting all national security launch needs. For many years, the Department of Defense has entrusted ULA with delivering its most important national security payloads to space. The United States Space Force's recent selection of ULA as the nation's "best value" provider, chosen to launch 60 percent of all national security payloads from 2022-2027, reaffirms ULA's trusted position" (United Launch Alliance, 2021d). That is not the only CEO's statement that emphasizes ULA's dedication to supporting the U.S. armed forces. For instance, when ULA helped the U.S. Space Force to perform its first mission ever, he stated: "Congratulations to the U.S. Space Force on liftoff of your first mission. We are proud to be your partner for this historic mission and honored to have launched the entire Lockheed Martin produced AEHF constellation on Atlas V rockets. We understand the critical importance of delivering protected communications to strategic command and tactical warfighters operating on ground, sea and air" (United Launch Alliance, 2020). Additionally, the CEO responded in an interview with DefenseNews stated that: "War fighting, when it comes to both established adversaries and emerging terrorist threats, has changed along with technology. Now it is time for America to fundamentally change its approach to space" (United Launch Alliance, 2019).

The discourse that can be drawn from these statements by ULA, is that the company is invested in providing the U.S. government and armed forces whatever they need to protect the United States in military and national security terms. It is interesting to see, however, that ULA is the only private actor investigated here that overtly and explicitly discusses its activities that support the U.S.

military and security services. This difference from Virgin Galactic and SpaceX could be explained by its rather different history and its power. The power of ULA, which is based on its historically strong ties with the U.S. government, technological know-how, and launch-failure free record (United Launch Alliance, n.d.-a), makes it an authority that might successfully perform these speech acts. It is then important to include this discourse within the analysis as other actors might open up about their military activities in the future too. For instance, as described in the actor description, SpaceX has broken ULA's seeming monopoly on the provision of launch services for the U.S. government and is expanding its activities in the military domain (U.S. Department of Defense, 2020). The fact that it does not overtly discuss this on its webpage, might change in the future, perhaps if it gains a more ingrained relationship with the government and, hence, more authority to make such speech acts credible.

## Chapter 5 – Discussion

Now that the previous chapter has presented the discourse analysis' outcomes found on the webpages of SpaceX, Virgin Galactic, and ULA, this chapter will put those findings into synthesis with the theories presented in the literature review. Specifically, it will argue that the PSI facilitates the enhanced securitization of space through both speech and performative acts. Additionally, it discusses why the industry might be capable of doing that and discuss some limitations of this research. This chapter will end with a critical reflection on securitization theory.

The discourses found throughout the analysis each possess either or both securitizing speech acts and performative acts. The "transformative enabler" discourse does not necessarily exhibit securitizing speech acts, yet it does contain performative acts. The performing of actions that democratize space such as SpaceX launching satellites for its Starlink project (Wall, 2019), launching military satellite for the Turkish government (SpaceX, 2021e), or signing a contract with the Italian Air Force (Virgin Galactic, 2019), could be viewed as such. This is the case because if access to space is to be proliferated and becomes easily obtainable, more and more individuals and especially states will enter the space domain. The fact that space will then become more crowded, combined with heightened interests in space, make it likely that orbit will increasingly be militarized and securitized too, which scholars already see happening (MacDonald, 2008, p. 3; Shabbir & Sarosh, 2018, pp. 119-121; Peoples, 2011, pp. 2-19). This trend is highly similar to what Salin (2001) saw happening in the 1990s when commercial growth in space led to states protecting commercial space assets, which made space securitization increase (Salin, 2001, pp. 19-25).

The discourses found about the companies' willingness to contribute to the maintenance of U.S. leadership in space, as well as on the possible extinction of the human species, and on the role of the PSI to support the U.S. government for military and national security purposes, seriously incline on securitization. This happens both through speech acts, mainly by ULA and SpaceX, but also by Virgin Galactic, and performative acts by all companies through their involvement with American armed forces. ULA's vocalness on its military and security views is remarkable, as it is openly advocating against the stance of most U.N. member states who adopted a motion condemning any attempts to start a new arms race in outer space (Moltz, 2011, p. 3). Yet it can be explained due to its power in technological terms and historically close relationship with the U.S. government which make it an authority that might successfully perform such speech acts. The relative novelty of the other two companies' involvement with the U.S. government for military and security purposes, conceivably makes them less expressive about their military and security views. They might act

otherwise, however, when they possess the technological power which they already have, *and* an ingrained relationship with the U.S. government on these matters, because that likely grants it the authority to attempt to successfully perform such speech acts.

All findings combined compared to the literature review, suggest that the PSI seemingly facilitates a securitization process that is already well underway, but it is not the original initiator. The process of securitization was already ongoing, for instance, during the 1990s or even the 1960s, although the intensity of this process highly varied. Currently, space activity seems to drift more towards the securitized side of the ladder, than the normally politicized, as more and more states enter space, also for military and security motivations. This adds up to McInnes & Rushton's (2012) argument that securitization happens on a gradual scale and is not dichotomous of character (McInnes & Rushton, 2012, pp. 128-129). It is important to note, however, that it might come across as arbitrary to put a label on a phenomenon for the extent it is securitized as the literature on securitization theory is rather unclear on where this threshold lies. Whereas evidence put forward throughout this thesis suggests that space indeed increasingly is being securitized, the belief that outer space is also there for ideational purposes remains profoundly present as well. Hence, it seems infeasible to put a definitive label on the level of securitization of outer space. Therefore, this thesis will refrain from trying, while holding on to the claim that space indeed increasingly leans towards the securitized side of the ladder, but without putting a label on its definitive position.

The facilitating role of the private industry in the securitization of outer space is that it dramatically lowered the costs of entry into the space domain and aims to proliferate space launch capabilities seemingly to any actor that is capable to pay for it. Hence, it acts as a facilitator for further securitization of space, as governments increasingly regard outer space as a military and national security domain. Remarkably, this is of much resemblance to the securitizing role of PMSCs in the War on Drugs. In turn, this might explain why private space companies might facilitate the accelerated securitization of space as well. As the literature review has shown, a plausible case can be made that private space companies could sometimes be categorized as PMSCs. PMSCs can sometimes act as securitizing actors, as they are incentivized to maintain or even enhance the securitized status of a phenomenon as they can financially profit from it (Hobson, 2014, pp. 1448-1452). Hence, with the power the PSI has through its technological knowledge and the reliant position of the U.S. government on them, it can sometimes act as a PMSC and reach an audience in Washington D.C. or elsewhere within the United States to maintain, enhance or facilitate the

securitization of outer space. For these purposes, it performs securitizing speech acts and performative acts.

With the discussion of an audience in Washington D.C., this chapter has struck upon a major limitation of this research. Whereas this thesis sought to intervene within the body of securitization theory by focusing on securitizing moves, it did not investigate how these moves were perceived by the audience. For a securitizing move to be successful, an audience needs to accept the securitizing move performed by a legitimate securitizing actor, making the process of securitization intersubjective (Balzacq, Léonard and Ruzicka, 2016, pp. 499-507). In this sense, the evidence put forward in chapter 4 suggests that the PSI intentionally or unintentionally, sought to perform securitizing acts, yet the question remains whether the moves have been accepted and were successful, as this thesis has not examined how these moves were perceived. Moreover, it was not aware of who exactly the audience was, as it can be, for instance, officials from the U.S. government, its armed services, or the general American public.

Another limitation of this thesis is that even though chapter 4 has presented evidence that hints at performative securitizing acts, this thesis is not capable of putting the label of securitizing practices on them. That is due to the reason that the Paris School talks about "regimes of practices" which define the *routine* of the securitizing practices' form and content (Balzacq, Léonard, & Ruzicka, 2016, pp. 504-507). As the literature review contends, performing some securitizing acts does not automatically produce a regime of practices containing a routine. In this sense, it would be rash to claim that the performative actions of the PSI have already established such a regime and routine. The novelty of U.S. private-public military and security partnerships with the NewSpace sector limits this thesis from doing so, although the established status of ULA might suggest otherwise. This can change in the future, of course, if the NewSpace sector ingrains itself within the military and security sector and routinely produces securitizing practices.

The third limitation of this thesis is that most of the evidence described things that are currently in motion or might happen in the future. Typically, the discipline of International Relations prefers to discuss phenomena that happened in the past and within clear-cut boundaries. The rapid developments regarding this thesis' research subject, however, necessitated it to include those findings as well, even though it perhaps limited the prospects of investigation of the subject due to data and knowledge availability.

This thesis has built upon the body of securitization theories, which sometimes proved to be useful. The combination of both the theories of speech acts and practices seemed resourceful as it provided the thesis with a more robust analysis, which Bigo (2002) already recommended (Bigo, 2002, pp. 65-66). Moreover, the theories on speech acts and practices provided the discourse analysis a focus and guided this thesis through its analyzing process.

In other instances, however, securitization theories were less useful. As discussed earlier, it remains unclear where the threshold lies for performative securitizing actions to become a regime of practices with a specified routine. Furthermore, the gradual scale of securitization is important to bear in mind, but again, this theory does not provide a mechanism to determine to what extent phenomenon *exactly* is securitized. The third criticism on securitization theory is that it remains unclear when the threshold of the prerequisite of possessing "enough authority" is met for an actor to successfully securitize a phenomenon. Do the novel companies SpaceX and Virgin Galactic already have the authority to get away with securitizing speech acts? As Philipsen (2018) suggests, it might actually be the other way around, in the sense that actors speak security, to gain authority, instead of them requiring the authority first to speak security second (Philipsen, 2018, pp. 139-160). The analysis has shown that these companies do possess technological power and that the U.S. government is increasingly reliant on them for that. Yet they lack an ingrained and lengthy relationship with that government, making their relationship with it rather different from that of, for instance, ULA. These reflections could be used to further enhance securitization theories.

## Chapter 6 - Conclusion

Throughout this thesis, which attempted at examining the execution of securitizing moves by the American PSI in the ongoing process of securitization surrounding outer space, the following research question stood central: "To what extent did the private space industry influence the securitization of outer space within the United States in the period 2010-2021?".

Through the generation of a discourse analysis, this thesis has uncovered four different discourses, present on the webpages of the private space companies SpaceX, Virgin Galactic, and ULA. Each discourse was woven into the words of either all three companies or SpaceX or ULA only. All of them, however, possessed securitizing moves through either or both speech acts and performative acts. By proliferating and enhancing space launching capabilities and engaging with military and national security parts of the U.S. government, the PSI further facilitated the securitization of outer space by that government. By being involved in the securitization of this phenomenon, the PSI has acted like some PMSCs that previously were involved in maintaining and enhancing the securitized status of drugs to keep the War on Drugs going, and the revenues directed at their pockets flowing. In turn, this could explain why the PSI would have an incentive and possess the capability to facilitate the securitization of space.

The question remains, however, to what extent those speech acts performed were successful, as the audience that had to accept the speech acts was not investigated. Moreover, it remains unclear whether the PSI has established what the Paris School calls a "regime of practices", as it is not clear when the performing of securitizing acts transcends into the establishment of a routine. Therefore, this thesis cautiously concludes that by performing these moves, these private space companies took on a facilitating role for a securitization process that was already ongoing. Nevertheless, the analysis' findings hint that the companies have the potential to enhance the securitization themselves as well. Yet, the fact remains that this research is not capable of definitely drawing that conclusion due to its limitation of not having investigated the audience.

This leaves vast opportunities for future research. An important path for it to follow would lead into the earlier discussed role of the audience. If the audience that needs to accept the securitizing moves were to be examined, it would become feasible to investigate whether the performed securitizing moves were successful or not. Another possibility would be to investigate whether individual private space companies definitively possess the right "level of authority" to perform credible securitizing moves. If those investigations were to be combined, it would become feasible

to provide a more robust answer to the question surrounding the PSI's role in the securitization of outer space.

Future research could also turn on rather different paths. For instance, it could investigate other American private space companies and their securitizing moves such as Blue Origin or Orbital Insight. Otherwise, it could also examine the securitizing role of the European PSI for the securitization of outer space within an EU context, or frankly that of any other PSI in other parts of the world.

This thesis' last future research recommendation would be to investigate the role of images within the securitization of outer space. As commenced by the literature review, scholars view images as an increasingly critical part of communication in our modern-day societies. Unfortunately, this thesis' constraining word count necessitated this research to choose for a limited focus on speech and performative acts. Nevertheless, a focus on images would not only be a valuable contribution to the debate on the securitization of outer space but also to securitization theory itself.

## References

- Baker, P., Gabrielatos, C., & McEnery, T. (2013). Discourse Analysis and Media Attitudes: The Representation of Islam in the British Press (Illustrated ed.). New York, United States: Cambridge University Press.
- Balzacq, T., Léonard, S., & Ruzicka, J. (2016). 'Securitization' revisited: theory and cases. International Relations, 30(4), 494–531. https://doi.org/10.1177/0047117815596590
- Bigo, D. (2002). Security and Immigration: Toward a Critique of the Governmentality of Unease. *Alternatives: Global, Local, Political, 27*(1), 63–92. https://doi.org/10.1177/03043754020270s105
- Brzoska, M. (2009). The securitization of climate change and the power of conceptions of security. *Sicherheit & Frieden*, 27(3), 137–145. <a href="https://doi.org/10.5771/0175-274x-2009-3-137">https://doi.org/10.5771/0175-274x-2009-3-137</a>
- Buzan, B., & Wæver, O. (2003). Regions and Powers, The Structure of International Security. Retrieved from <a href="https://ir101.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Buzan-Waever-2003-Regions-and-Powers-The-Structure-of-International-Security.pdf">https://ir101.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Buzan-Waever-2003-Regions-and-Powers-The-Structure-of-International-Security.pdf</a>
- Cunningham, R. D. (1985). Space Commerce and Secured Financing—New Frontiers for the U.C.C. *The Business Lawyer*, 40(3), 803–838. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.jstor.org/stable/40686639">https://www.jstor.org/stable/40686639</a>
- Davidian, K. (2020). Definition of NewSpace. *New Space*, 8(2), 53–55. https://doi.org/10.1089/space.2020.29027.kda
- Dolman, E. C. (2019). Space Force Déjà Vu. *Strategic Studies Quarterly*, 13(2), 16–22. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.jstor.org/stable/10.2307/26639671">https://www.jstor.org/stable/10.2307/26639671</a>
- Duffy, K. (2020a, October 6). Elon Musk's SpaceX wins a \$149 million Pentagon contract to build missile-tracking satellites. Retrieved November 14, 2021, from <a href="https://www.businessinsider.com/elon-musks-spacex-wins-pentagon-missile-tracking-satellite-contract-2020-10?international=true&r=US&IR=T</a>
- Duffy, K. (2020b, October 9). The US military and Elon Musk are planning a 7,500-mph rocket that can deliver weapons anywhere in the world in an hour. Retrieved November 14, 2021, from <a href="https://www.businessinsider.com/musks-spacex-partners-us-military-to-deliver-weapons-by-rockets-2020-10?international=true&r=US&IR=T">https://www.businessinsider.com/musks-spacex-partners-us-military-to-deliver-weapons-by-rockets-2020-10?international=true&r=US&IR=T</a>
- Fossey, E., Harvey, C., McDermott, F., & Davidson, L. (2002). Understanding and evaluating qualitative research. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, *36*, 717–732. Retrieved from <a href="https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1046/j.1440-1614.2002.01100.x?casa\_token=KJ9fsJAFHY4AAAAA:7PQqwJ3LuB8RB17zsFRBlvYiOEcOEhvwvewD4nZAGNHl-RdjfdiygGA3YIb-LyGWYcEAk55v0wYboQ">https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1440-1614.2002.01100.x?casa\_token=KJ9fsJAFHY4AAAAA:7PQqwJ3LuB8RB17zsFRBlvYiOEcOEhvwvewD4nZAGNHl-RdjfdiygGA3YIb-LyGWYcEAk55v0wYboQ</a>
- Gohd, C. (2020, October 31). Hundreds gather at SpaceX headquarters to protest Turkish satellite launch: report. Retrieved December 3, 2021, from <a href="https://www.space.com/spacex-turksat-5a-armenian-protests">https://www.space.com/spacex-turksat-5a-armenian-protests</a>

- Hobson, C. (2014). Privatising the war on drugs. *Third World Quarterly*, *35*(8), 1441–1456. https://doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2014.946261
- Huysmans, J. (2000). The European Union and the Securitization of Migration. *JCMS: Journal of Common Market Studies*, 38(5), 751–777. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-5965.00263">https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-5965.00263</a>
- Innovation Finance Advisory & European Investment Advisory Hub. (2019). The future of the European space sector: How to leverage Europe's technological leadership and boost investments for space ventures. European Investment Bank. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.eib.org/attachments/thematic/future\_of\_european\_space\_sector\_en.pdf">https://www.eib.org/attachments/thematic/future\_of\_european\_space\_sector\_en.pdf</a>
- Israel, I. B., & Paikowsky, D. (2017). The Iron Wall Logic of Israel's Space Programme. Survival, 59(4), 151–166. https://doi.org/10.1080/00396338.2017.1349818
- Johnson-Freese, J. (2016). Space Warfare in the 21st Century: Arming the Heavens (Cass Military Studies) (1st ed.). New York, United States: Routledge.
- Klotz, I. (2017, April 7). Air Force space chief open to flying on recycled SpaceX rockets.
   Retrieved November 26, 2021, from <a href="https://www.reuters.com/article/us-space-spacex-military-idUSKBN1782ZS">https://www.reuters.com/article/us-space-spacex-military-idUSKBN1782ZS</a>
- Kluger, J. (n.d.). SpaceX: 10 Facts to Know. Retrieved November 21, 2021, from <a href="https://time.com/space-x-ten-things-to-know/">https://time.com/space-x-ten-things-to-know/</a>
- Kovacic, W. E. (2020). Competition Policy Retrospective: The Formation of the United Launch Alliance and the Ascent of SpaceX. *George Mason Law Review*, 27(3), 863–904. Retrieved from <a href="https://heinonline.org/HOL/P?h=hein.journals/gmlr27&i=877">https://heinonline.org/HOL/P?h=hein.journals/gmlr27&i=877</a>
- Léonard, S. (2010). EU border security and migration into the European Union: FRONTEX and securitisation through practices. *European Security*, 19(2), 231–254. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/09662839.2010.526937">https://doi.org/10.1080/09662839.2010.526937</a>
- Loomba, A. (1998). Colonialism/Postcolonialism. London, United Kingdom: Routledge.
- MacDonald, B. W. & Council on Foreign Relations. (2008). *China, Space Weapons, and U.S. Security.* New York, United States: Council of Foreign Relations.
- Marshall, T. (2021). *The Power of Geography* (1e ed.). London, United Kingdom: Elliot and Thompson Limited.
- Mauer, V. (2009). *The Routledge Handbook of Security Studies*. Retrieved from <a href="http://ndl.ethernet.edu.et/bitstream/123456789/24330/1/49.Myriam%20Dunn%20Cavelty%20and%20Victor%20Mauer.pdf#page=73">http://ndl.ethernet.edu.et/bitstream/123456789/24330/1/49.Myriam%20Dunn%20Cavelty%20and%20Victor%20Mauer.pdf#page=73</a>
- McInnes, C., & Rushton, S. (2012). HIV/AIDS and securitization theory. *European Journal of International Relations*, 19(1), 115–138. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1354066111425258">https://doi.org/10.1177/1354066111425258</a>

- Moltz, J. (2011). *The Politics of Space Security* (2nd ed.). Stanford, United States: Stanford University Press.
- Muelhaupt, T. J., Sorge, M. E., Morin, J., & Wilson, R. S. (2019). Space traffic management in the new space era. *Journal of Space Safety Engineering*, 6(2), 80–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsse.2019.05.007
- ÖZcan, S. (2013). The Securitization of Energy Through the Lenses of Copenhagen School. The 2013 WEI International Academic Conference Proceedings, 3–18. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.westeastinstitute.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/04/ORL13-155-Sezer-Ozcan-Full-Paper.pdf">https://www.westeastinstitute.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/04/ORL13-155-Sezer-Ozcan-Full-Paper.pdf</a>
- Peeters, W. (2018). Toward a Definition of New Space? The Entrepreneurial Perspective. *New Space*, 6(3), 187–190. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1089/space.2017.0039">https://doi.org/10.1089/space.2017.0039</a>
- Peoples, C. (2011). The Securitization of Outer Space: Challenges for Arms Control. *Contemporary Security Policy*, 32(1), 76–98. https://doi.org/10.1080/13523260.2011.556846
- Philipsen, L. (2018). Performative securitization: from conditions of success to conditions of possibility. *Journal of International Relations and Development*, *23*(1), 139–163. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41268-018-0130-8
- Quinn, A. G. (2008). The New Age of Space Law: The Outer Space Treaty and the Weaponization of Space. . . Minnesota Journal of International Law, 17(2), 475–502. Retrieved from <a href="https://heinonline.org/HOL/Page?handle=hein.journals/mjgt17&div=18&g-sent=1&c-asa\_token=&collection=journals">https://heinonline.org/HOL/Page?handle=hein.journals/mjgt17&div=18&g-sent=1&c-asa\_token=&collection=journals</a>
- Quintana, E. (2017). The New Space Age. The RUSI Journal, 162(3), 88–109. https://doi.org/10.1080/03071847.2017.1352377
- Reddy, V. S. (2018). The SpaceX Effect. *New Space*, *6*(2), 125–134. https://doi.org/10.1089/space.2017.0032
- Rose, G. (2016). *Visual Methodologies* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, Canada: SAGE Publications.
- Salin, P. A. (2001). Privatization and militarization in the space business environment. *Space Policy*, 17(1), 19–26. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/s0265-9646(00)00050-3">https://doi.org/10.1016/s0265-9646(00)00050-3</a>
- Seawright, J., & Gerring, J. (2008). Case Selection Techniques in Case Study Research. *Political Research Quarterly*, 61(2), 294–308. https://doi.org/10.1177/1065912907313077
- Shabbir, Z., & Sarosh, A. (2018). Counterspace Operations and Nascent Space Powers. *Astropolitics*, *16*(2), 119–140. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/14777622.2018.1486792">https://doi.org/10.1080/14777622.2018.1486792</a>
- Sheetz, M. (2021, November 11). SpaceX launches the Crew-3 mission for NASA, the company's fifth human spaceflight. Retrieved November 14, 2021, from

- https://www.cnbc.com/2021/11/10/watch-spacex-and-nasas-crew-3-astronaut-launch-livestream.html
- Singer, P. W. (2008). *Corporate Warriors: the rise of the privatized military industry* (2nd ed.). Ithaca, New York: Cornell University.
- Smart, M. (2016, September 25). Old vs New: the next generation of the space industry. Retrieved November 27, 2021, from <a href="https://theconversation.com/old-vs-new-the-next-generation-of-the-space-industry-64793">https://theconversation.com/old-vs-new-the-next-generation-of-the-space-industry-64793</a>
- SpaceX. (2021a, March 2). DEARMOON OPENS PROCESS TO JOIN STARSHIP FLIGHT AROUND THE MOON. Retrieved December 6, 2021, from <a href="https://www.spacex.com/updates/dearmoon-announcement-03-02-2021/index.html">https://www.spacex.com/updates/dearmoon-announcement-03-02-2021/index.html</a>
- SpaceX. (2021b, April 16). Starship to land astronauts on the Moon. Retrieved December 6, 2021, from <a href="https://www.spacex.com/updates/starship-moon-announcement/index.html">https://www.spacex.com/updates/starship-moon-announcement/index.html</a>
- SpaceX. (2021c, November 8). Crew-2 Returns to Earth. Retrieved December 6, 2021, from <a href="https://www.spacex.com/updates/crew-2-return/index.html">https://www.spacex.com/updates/crew-2-return/index.html</a>
- SpaceX. (2021d, November 23). Dart Mission. Retrieved December 6, 2021, from <a href="https://www.spacex.com/updates/dart/index.html">https://www.spacex.com/updates/dart/index.html</a>
- SpaceX. (2021e, December 2). Recent launch: Starlink mission. Retrieved December 6, 2021, from <a href="https://www.spacex.com/launches/index.html">https://www.spacex.com/launches/index.html</a>
- SpaceX. (n.d.-a). Dragon. Retrieved December 6, 2021, from <a href="https://www.spacex.com/vehicles/dragon/">https://www.spacex.com/vehicles/dragon/</a>
- SpaceX. (n.d.-b). Interplanetary transport. Retrieved December 6, 2021, from <a href="https://www.spacex.com/vehicles/starship/">https://www.spacex.com/vehicles/starship/</a>
- SpaceX. (n.d.-c). Mission. Retrieved December 6, 2021, from <a href="https://www.spacex.com/mission/">https://www.spacex.com/mission/</a>
- SpaceX. (n.d.-d). Smallsat Rideshare Program. Retrieved December 6, 2021, from <a href="https://www.spacex.com/rideshare/">https://www.spacex.com/rideshare/</a>
- SpaceX. (n.d.-e). The Moon. Retrieved December 6, 2021, from https://www.spacex.com/human-spaceflight/moon/index.html
- Stritzel, H. (2007). Towards a Theory of Securitization: Copenhagen and Beyond. European Journal of International Relations, 13(3), 357–383. https://doi.org/10.1177/1354066107080128
- Tamatea, L., Hardy, J., & Ninnes, P. (2008). Paradoxical inscriptions of global subjects: critical discourse analysis of international schools' websites in the Asia–Pacific Region. *Critical Studies in Education*, 49(2), 157–170. https://doi.org/10.1080/17508480802040241

- Taylor, D. (2021, April 16). An Investment Gold Rush Is Underway In The NewSpace Sector. Retrieved November 26, 2021, from <a href="https://www.forbes.com/sites/forbesbusinesscouncil/2021/04/16/an-investment-gold-rush-is-underway-in-the-newspace-sector/?sh=449210fc498f">https://www.forbes.com/sites/forbesbusinesscouncil/2021/04/16/an-investment-gold-rush-is-underway-in-the-newspace-sector/?sh=449210fc498f</a>
- Tronchetti, F., & Liu, H. (2018). The Trump administration and outer space: promoting US leadership or heading towards isolation? *Australian Journal of International Affairs*, 72(5), 418–432. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/10357718.2018.1505827">https://doi.org/10.1080/10357718.2018.1505827</a>
- United Launch Alliance. (2019, December 5). Tory Bruno in DefenseNews: Finding Baghdadi: Why protecting space assets is vital to national security. Retrieved December 6, 2021, from <a href="https://blog.ulalaunch.com/blog/tory-bruno-in-defensenews-finding-baghdadi-why-protecting-space-assets-is-vital-to-national-security">https://blog.ulalaunch.com/blog/tory-bruno-in-defensenews-finding-baghdadi-why-protecting-space-assets-is-vital-to-national-security</a>
- United Launch Alliance. (2020, March 26). AEHF-6: ULA launches first U.S. Space Force mission. Retrieved December 6, 2021, from <a href="https://blog.ulalaunch.com/blog/aehf-6-ula-launches-first-u.s.-space-force-mission">https://blog.ulalaunch.com/blog/aehf-6-ula-launches-first-u.s.-space-force-mission</a>
- United Launch Alliance. (2021a, April 15). NASA adds United Launch Alliance Vulcan Centaur Rocket to Launch Services Program Catalog. Retrieved December 6, 2021, from <a href="https://www.ulalaunch.com/about/news/2021/04/15/nasa-adds-united-launch-alliance-vulcan-centaur-rocket-to-launch-services-program-catalog">https://www.ulalaunch.com/about/news/2021/04/15/nasa-adds-united-launch-alliance-vulcan-centaur-rocket-to-launch-services-program-catalog</a>
- United Launch Alliance. (2021b, April 19). Amazon Secures United Launch Alliance's Proven Atlas V Rocket for Nine Project Kuiper Launches. Retrieved December 6, 2021, from <a href="https://www.ulalaunch.com/about/news/2021/04/19/amazon-secures-united-launch-alliance-s-proven-atlas-v-rocket-for-nine-project-kuiper-launches">https://www.ulalaunch.com/about/news/2021/04/19/amazon-secures-united-launch-alliance-s-proven-atlas-v-rocket-for-nine-project-kuiper-launches</a>
- United Launch Alliance. (2021c, April 22). Earth Day 2021: ULA empowers research from space. Retrieved December 6, 2021, from <a href="https://blog.ulalaunch.com/blog/earth-day-2021-ula-empowers-research-from-space">https://blog.ulalaunch.com/blog/earth-day-2021-ula-empowers-research-from-space</a>
- United Launch Alliance. (2021d, June 16). ULA President and CEO Tory Bruno Testifies to U.S. House of Representatives' Committee on Transportation & Infrastructure, Aviation Subcommittee. Retrieved December 6, 2021, from <a href="https://blog.ulalaunch.com/blog/ula-president-and-ceo-tory-bruno-testifies-to-u.s.-house-of-representatives-committee-on-transportation-infrastructure-aviation-subcommittee">https://blog.ulalaunch.com/blog/ula-president-and-ceo-tory-bruno-testifies-to-u.s.-house-of-representatives-committee-on-transportation-infrastructure-aviation-subcommittee</a>
- United Launch Alliance. (n.d.-a). About ULA. Retrieved November 27, 2021, from <a href="https://www.ulalaunch.com/about">https://www.ulalaunch.com/about</a>
- United Launch Alliance. (n.d.-b). Atlas V. Retrieved December 6, 2021, from <a href="https://www.ulalaunch.com/rockets/atlas-v">https://www.ulalaunch.com/rockets/atlas-v</a>
- United Launch Alliance. (n.d.-c). Delta IV. Retrieved December 6, 2021, from <a href="https://www.ulalaunch.com/rockets/delta-iv">https://www.ulalaunch.com/rockets/delta-iv</a>
- United Launch Alliance. (n.d.-d). ULA | United Launch Alliance. Retrieved December 6, 2021, from <a href="https://www.ulalaunch.com/">https://www.ulalaunch.com/</a>

- United Nations General Assembly. (1967). Treaty on Principles Governing the Activities of States in the Exploration and Use of Outer Space, including the Moon and Other Celestial Bodies. Retrieved October 23, 2021, from <a href="https://unoosa.org/oosa/en/ourwork/spacelaw/treaties/outerspacetreaty.html">https://unoosa.org/oosa/en/ourwork/spacelaw/treaties/outerspacetreaty.html</a>
- United Nations Office for Disarmament Affairs. (n.d.). Outer Space UNODA. Retrieved October 24, 2021, from https://www.un.org/disarmament/topics/outerspace/
- United States Space Force. (n.d.). History. Retrieved October 27, 2021, from <a href="https://www.spaceforce.mil/About-Us/About-Space-Force/History/">https://www.spaceforce.mil/About-Us/About-Space-Force/History/</a>
- U.S. Department Of Defense. (2020, August 7). > U.S. DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE
   > Contract. Retrieved November 27, 2021, from <a href="https://perma.cc/KB2P-4NAU">https://perma.cc/KB2P-4NAU</a>
- van Manen, H., Sweijs, T., & Bolder, P. (2021, March). Towards a Space Security Strategy: Action Points for Safeguarding Dutch Security and Prosperity in the Space Age. The Hague Centre for Strategic Studies. Retrieved from <a href="https://hcss.nl/report/strategic-alert-towards-a-space-security-strategy/">https://hcss.nl/report/strategic-alert-towards-a-space-security-strategy/</a>
- Virgin Galactic. (2018, February 8). Research Flights Virgin Galactic. Retrieved December 6, 2021, from <a href="https://www.virgingalactic.com/research">https://www.virgingalactic.com/research</a>
- Virgin Galactic. (2019, October 2). Virgin Galactic and Italian Air Force Announce
  World First Government Contract for Human Tended Research Flight Virgin Galactic.
  Retrieved November 26, 2021, from <a href="https://www.virgingalactic.com/articles/virgin-galactic-and-italian-air-force-announce-world-first-government-contract-for-human-tended-research-flight/">https://www.virgingalactic.com/articles/virgin-galactic-and-italian-air-force-announce-world-first-government-contract-for-human-tended-research-flight/</a>
- Virgin Galactic. (2020a, May 22). A Bright Future for Commercial Human Spaceflight Virgin Galactic. Retrieved December 6, 2021, from <a href="https://www.virgingalactic.com/articles/a-bright-future-for-commercial-human-spaceflight/">https://www.virgingalactic.com/articles/a-bright-future-for-commercial-human-spaceflight/</a>
- Virgin Galactic. (2020b, June 22). Virgin Galactic Signs Space Act Agreement with NASA for Private Orbital Spaceflight to the International Space Station (ISS) Virgin Galactic. Retrieved December 6, 2021, from <a href="https://www.virgingalactic.com/articles/virgin-galactic-signs-space-act-agreement-with-nasa-for-private-orbital-spaceflight-to-the-international-space-station-iss/">https://www.virgingalactic.com/articles/virgin-galactic-signs-space-act-agreement-with-nasa-for-private-orbital-spaceflight-to-the-international-space-station-iss/</a>
- Virgin Galactic. (2021a, February 23). Galactic Unite Black Leaders in Aerospace Scholarship and Training Program First Cohort Announced - Virgin Galactic. Retrieved December 6, 2021, from <a href="https://www.virgingalactic.com/articles/galactic-unite-black-leaders-in-aerospace-scholarship-and-training-program-first-cohort-announced/">https://www.virgingalactic.com/articles/galactic-unite-black-leaders-in-aerospace-scholarship-and-training-program-first-cohort-announced/</a>
- Virgin Galactic. (2021b, November 24). Omaze and Virgin Galactic Announce Winner of Once-in-a-Lifetime Trip to Space - Virgin Galactic. Retrieved December 6, 2021, from <a href="https://www.virgingalactic.com/articles/omaze-and-virgin-galactic-announce-winner-of-once-in-a-lifetime-trip-to-space/">https://www.virgingalactic.com/articles/omaze-and-virgin-galactic-announce-winner-of-once-in-a-lifetime-trip-to-space/</a>

- Virgin Galactic. (n.d.-a). Mission. Retrieved November 26, 2021, from <a href="https://www.virgingalactic.com/mission/">https://www.virgingalactic.com/mission/</a>
- Virgin Galactic. (n.d.-b). Purpose. Retrieved November 26, 2021, from https://www.virgingalactic.com/purpose/
- Virgin Galactic. (n.d.-c). Virgin Galactic: Become an Astronaut. Retrieved December 6, 2021, from <a href="https://www.virgingalactic.com/">https://www.virgingalactic.com/</a>
- Wall, M. (2019, October 16). SpaceX's Starlink Constellation Could Swell by 30,000 More Satellites. Retrieved November 26, 2021, from <a href="https://www.space.com/spacex-30000-more-starlink-satellites.html">https://www.space.com/spacex-30000-more-starlink-satellites.html</a>
- Weeden, B., & Samson, V. (2018, April). Global Counterspace Capabilities: An Open Source Assessment. Secure World Foundation. Retrieved from <a href="https://swfound-staging.azurewebsites.net/media/206118/swf\_global\_counterspace\_april2018.pdf">https://swfound-staging.azurewebsites.net/media/206118/swf\_global\_counterspace\_april2018.pdf</a>
- Williams, M. C. (2003). Words, Images, Enemies: Securitization and International Politics. International Studies Quarterly, 47(4), 511–531. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1046/j.0020-8833.2003.00277.x">https://doi.org/10.1046/j.0020-8833.2003.00277.x</a>
- Young, C. (2021, July 13). How Richard Branson Became The First Space Billionaire: The Virgin Galactic Story. Retrieved November 26, 2021, from <a href="https://interestingengineering.com/how-richard-branson-became-the-first-space-billionaire-a-story-of-virgin-galactic">https://interestingengineering.com/how-richard-branson-became-the-first-space-billionaire-a-story-of-virgin-galactic</a>